1989

# Lynn Nielsen v. Pioneer Valley Hospital, D.M. Dickson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to § 78-2-2(3)(j) Utah Code Annotated (1968).

### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is jury instruction No. 16, which states that "no presumption of negligence arises from the fact of an adverse event occurring during a defendants treatment." improper and reversible error in a res ipsa loquitur case?

Is Jury Instruction No. 19, which prohibits the jury from relying upon their own experience and knowledge in determining the standard of care, the breach thereof, and proximate cause, improper and reversible error in a res ipsa loquitur case based upon the "common Knowledge" exception to the rule requiring expert testimony?

Whether the trial court properly instructed the jury is a question of Law. Therefore, this Court should review the trial

court's instructions for correctness only, giving them no particular deference. (Knapstad v. Smith's Management Corporation, 774 P. 2d, 1 [Ut. 1989])

#### DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

The following rule of civil procedure may be controlling and determinative of the issues presented in this appeal.

Rule 51 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, (amended 1987) Provides as follows:

At the close of the evidence or at such earlier time as the court reasonably directs, any party may file written requests that the court instruct the jury on the law as set forth in said requests. The court shall inform counsel of its proposed action upon the requests prior to instructing the jury; and it shall furnish counsel with a copy of its proposed instructions, unless the parties stipulate that such instructions may be given orally or otherwise waive this requirement. If the instructions are to be given in writing, all objections thereto must be made before the instructions are given to the jury; otherwise, objections may be made to the instructions after they are given to the jury, but before the jury retires to consider its verdict. No party may assign as error the giving or the failure to give an instruction unless he objects thereto. In objecting to the giving of an instruction, a party must state distinctly the matter to which he objects and the grounds for his objection. Notwithstanding the foregoing requirement, the appellate court, in its discretion and in the interests of justice, may review the giving of or failure to give an instruction. Opportunity shall be given to make objections, and they shall be made out of the hearing of the jury.

Arguments for the respective parties shall be made after the court has instructed the jury. The court shall not comment on the evidence in the case, and if the court states any of the evidence, it must instruct the jurors that they are the exclusive judges of all questions of fact.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff-Appellant Lynn Nielsen filed this action against Pioneer Valley Hospital and Dr. D. M. Dixon, an anesthesiologist, for damages she suffered when she entered the Defendant hospital for a Knee operation and, after surgery, regained consciousness in the recovery room with several teeth knocked out and her bridgework damaged.

She sued both Defendants on the theory of ordinary negligence as well as the theory of *res ipsa loquitur*. Prior to trial, the Defendants moved for summary judgment on all causes of action on the grounds that Plaintiff did not intend to present expert testimony as to the issues of standard of care and causation. The trial judge granted the motion.

Plaintiff appealed the dismissal of her *res ipsa loquitur* claim to this Court, arguing that the "common knowledge" exception to the rule requiring expert testimony applied. She then moved for summary disposition. This Court summarily reversed the trial court's ruling as it pertained to the *res ipsa loquitur* claim, holding that the "common knowledge" exception did apply and that expert testimony was not necessary.

Plaintiff thereafter proceeded at trial on the *res ipsa loquitur* theory and did not present expert evidence to support a theory of ordinary negligence. Defendants offered jury instructions numbered 16 and 19 which pertained to an ordinary negligence theory and which required the jury to rely only upon expert testimony, rather than their own knowledge and experience in determining the

standard of care, whether it had been breached and proximate cause. Over Plaintiff's objections, the Trial Court instructed the jury as set forth in Instructions 16 and 19. The jury found no negligence on the part of either defendant.

Plaintiff appeals on the grounds that the above instructions are contrary to the law of this case as set forth in this Court's previous order of summary disposition and tended to mislead and confuse the jury to Plaintiff's prejudice. This constitutes reversible error.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 27, 1985, Plaintiff Lynn Nielsen was admitted to Pioneer Valley Hospital to undergo surgery on her left Knee. During the previous year, she had undergone substantial bridgework and other dental work on her teeth and on the date of admission, her teeth were in good condition and were intact in her mouth. (Trial Transcript, p.86, 87, 166, 167, 168, 173, 174, 235)

At approximately 8:40 a.m. on that day, Plaintiff was interviewed by agents of Pioneer Valley Hospital and thereafter by Dr. Dixon, the anesthesiologist. They were informed of her dental work and Plaintiff's concern that the defendants take proper care to protect her teeth during surgery. (Trial Transcript, P. 91, 92, 93, 149, 150, 319)

She was thereafter admitted to surgery during which she was placed under general anesthesia. (Trial Transcript, P.93, 94, 238, 239, 319, 325, 334)



At approximately 11:35 a.m. on February 27, 1985, while Plaintiff was returning to consciousness in the recovery room of the Hospital, Joanne Henschke, the Recovery Room nurse discovered that several of Plaintiff's teeth had been broken out and her bridgework damaged. (Trial Transcript, p. 95, 276;)

All parties agree that the damage occurred at some time between the time Plaintiff entered the Defendant's care for surgery and the time the damage was discovered in the recovery room. (Trial Transcript, P.60, 65, 69, 318, 319, 505, 506, 528)

Plaintiff was not conscious and has no direct knowledge of how her injury happened, nor could she negligently or intentionally contribute to the cause of her injury. (Trial Transcript, P. 94, 95, 275, 276, 277)

On October 9, 1986, Plaintiff filed this action against the Hospital, Dr. Dixon and Dr. Veasey, the knee surgeon. Dr. Veasey was subsequently dismissed from the suit. (Trial Court's Order of Dismissal 2/24/87, attached hereto as Exhibit A)

The complaint alleged four causes of action against Defendants. The first cause of action was based upon the theory of ordinary negligence and malpractice against Dr. Dickson; the second was based on the theory of ordinary negligence and malpractice against Pioneer Valley Hospital, the third was based on the theory of res ipsa loquitur against both Dickson and the Hospital and the fourth was based on the theory of failure to obtain informed consent by both Defendants. (Plaintiff's Complaint, attached hereto as Exhibit B)

On February 17, 1988, Defendants moved the trial court for summary judgment on all causes of action based upon the fact that Plaintiff did not intend to provide expert testimony at trial as to the duty of care, its breach and causation. (Trial Court's Order of Summary Judgment, attached as Exhibit C.)

On April 4, 1988, the Trial Court granted Defendant's motion for summary judgment, ruling in part: "that the facts of the case, without the benefit of expert testimony on behalf of the Plaintiff, did not establish the requisite elements for submission of the case to the jury under the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*." (Trial Court's Order of Summary Judgment, attached as Exhibit C.)

Plaintiff thereafter appealed the summary judgment to this court on the issues of *res ipsa loquitur* and informed consent, and moved for summary disposition. (Plaintiff's Amended Docketing Statement, attached as exhibit D)

On September 16, 1988, this Court reversed the trial court's summary judgment as it pertained to the theory of *res ipsa loquitur*, ruling in part: "Expert evidence is not necessary to establish the applicable standard of care in this case, as it appears no medical technicalities are involved." The case was remanded to the trial Court for further proceedings. (Utah Supreme Court's Order of Summary Disposition, attached as Exhibit E)

At trial, Plaintiff proceeded only on the theory of *res ipsa loquitur* and did not present expert testimony on the issues of ordinary negligence or informed consent. (Trial Transcript, P.56, 57, 58, 59)

Prior to closing argument, the trial judge instructed the jury as to the law. Two of the instructions proposed by Defendants and given to the jury were instructions numbered 16 and 19. (Trial Transcript, P. 475, 477)

Plaintiff advised the judge and counsel of objections to these instructions prior to the time they were given to the jury, but Plaintiff's objections were overruled. Thereafter, Plaintiff's counsel was given the opportunity to put his objections on the record. (Trial Transcript, P. 540, 541, 542)

The Trial Court instructed the jury by way of Instruction No. 16 that no presumption of negligence arises from the fact of an adverse event occurring during the Defendant's treatment of Plaintiff. Instruction No. 19 instructed the jury that they were not permitted to use their own experience or any standard of their own in determining the standard of care and further instructed them that they must determine the proper standard of care only from medical expert testimony. (Instruction No. 16 attached hereto as Exhibit F; Instruction No. 19 attached hereto as Exhibit G)

These instructions were given to the jury prior to closing argument and Plaintiff's counsel was required to attempt to explain to the jury in closing argument how these instructions might be reconciled with Plaintiff's *res ipsa loquitur* "common knowledge" theory. (Trial Transcript, P. 475, 477, 478, 479, 480)

In closing argument, Counsel for Dr. Dixon read Instructions numbered 16 and 19 in their entirety to the Jury. (Trial Transcript, P. 526, 527, 528, 529)

By way of special verdict, the jury found that Plaintiff had failed to prove negligence on the part of either Defendant and never reached the issue of damages. (Amended Judgment on Verdict, attached as Exhibit H)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

##### POINT I.

PLAINTIFF'S FIRST, SECOND AND FOURTH CAUSES OF ACTION WERE DISPOSED OF BY THE TRIAL COURT'S SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON APRIL 4, 1988 AND THE ONLY CAUSE REMANDED BY THE SUPREME COURT AND TRIED TO THE JURY WAS THE THEORY OF RES IPSA LOQUITUR.

A. The trial court's Order of Summary Judgment, entered on April 4, 1988 disposed of all of Plaintiff's causes of action. . . . . 11

B. Plaintiff appealed this summary judgment only on the issues of the res ipsa loquitur claim and the informed consent claim. . . . . 11,12

C. On September 16, 1988 the Utah Supreme Court summarily reversed the trial court's summary judgment as it pertained to the res ipsa loquitur theory. . . . . 12

D. Res ipsa loquitur was the only theory tried to the jury. . . . . 12

E. The trial court's instructions to the jury on law related to the theory of ordinary negligence was not supported by Plaintiff's theory of the case nor the evidence presented by Plaintiff at trial. . . . . 12

##### POINT II.

INSTRUCTIONS NUMBERED 16 AND 19 WERE IMPROPER AND RESULT IN REVERSIBLE ERROR BECAUSE THEY TEND TO MISLEAD THE JURY TO THE PREJUDICE OF PLAINTIFF BY IMPROPERLY STATING THE LAW APPLICABLE IN A RES IPSA LOQUITUR CASE BASED UPON THE "COMMON KNOWLEDGE" EXCEPTION TO THE RULE REQUIRING EXPERT TESTIMONY.

A. Once the requisite foundation for application of the res ipsa loquitur theory is established, a rebuttable inference of negligence arises as a matter of law. . . 13

B. One of the foundational requirements is that the instrument or thing causing the injury was at the time of the accident under the management and control of the defendant. . . . . 14

C. Plaintiff established the requisite foundation at trial. . . . . 14

D. Therefore, a presumption of negligence was established from the fact that Plaintiff's injury occurred during the time she was in Defendant's care and control for treatment. . . . . 14

E. Instruction No. 16 advises the jury that "no presumption of negligence arises from the fact of an adverse event occurring during a defendant's treatment." It is therefore erroneous, confusing, prejudicial to Plaintiff and reversible error. . . . . 14

F. The Utah Supreme Court established the law of this case by holding that the "common knowledge" exception to the rule requiring expert testimony applies. . . . . 14,15

G. Instruction No. 19 prohibits the jury from using a standard of care derived from their own experience but requires them to rely only upon expert testimony in determining the standard. It is therefore erroneous, confusing, prejudicial and reversible error. . . . . 15,16

#### ARGUMENT

I. PLAINTIFF'S FIRST, SECOND AND FOURTH CAUSES OF ACTION WERE DISPOSED OF BY THE TRIAL COURT'S SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON APRIL 4, 1988 AND THE ONLY CAUSE REMANDED BY THE SUPREME COURT AND TRIED TO THE JURY WAS THE THEORY OF RES IPSA LOQUITUR.

There is no question that the trial court's order of summary judgment granted judgment on all causes of action. (Exhibit C) As can be seen by Plaintiff's docketing statement on appeal from that order (Exhibit D), specifically the ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL, Plaintiff appealed only the issues of res ipsa loquitur and informed consent. Plaintiff did not appeal the trial court's ruling that she

would need expert testimony to prove the standard of care under Plaintiff's first and second causes of action.

The Supreme Court's order reversing summary judgment is clearly limited to the issue of res ipsa loquitur. (Exhibit E) It could hardly be argued that this order was intended to reverse the Trial Court's ruling that expert testimony would be required under Plaintiff's first and second causes of action based upon ordinary negligence. As a result, Plaintiff's causes of action based upon ordinary negligence were disposed of by the Order of Summary Judgment and Plaintiff was allowed by way of the Supreme Court's reversal to proceed to establish negligence without expert testimony on the theory of res ipsa loquitur.

In sum, the issues of ordinary negligence having been disposed of by way of summary judgment, the Plaintiff proceeded at trial on the theory of res ipsa loquitur only. (Trial transcript P. 56, 57, 58, 59) The Court's instructions to the jury on issues of ordinary negligence were therefore not justified by the theory of Plaintiff's case nor the evidence presented by Plaintiff at trial, and, as set forth below, tended to confuse and mislead the jury as to the law to be applied to this case.

II. INSTRUCTIONS NUMBERED 16 AND 19 WERE IMPROPER AND RESULT IN REVERSIBLE ERROR BECAUSE THEY TEND TO MISLEAD THE JURY TO THE

PREJUDICE OF PLAINTIFF BY IMPROPERLY STATING THE LAW APPLICABLE IN  
A RES IPSA LOQUITUR CASE BASED UPON THE "COMMON KNOWLEDGE" EXCEPTION  
TO THE RULE REQUIRING EXPERT TESTIMONY.

Utah law is clear that once the foundation for res ipsa loquitur is established, a rebuttable inference of negligence arises as a matter of law (See Nixdrof v. Hicken, 612 P. 2d 348 [Ut. 1980]; Dalley v. Utah Valley Regional Medical Center, 132 Ut. Adv. Rep. 17, [Ut. 1990]). The foundation required is:

- (1) The accident was of a kind which in the ordinary course of events, would not have happened had the Defendant used due care,
- (2) The instrument or thing causing the injury was at the time of the accident under the management and control of the Defendant, and
- (3) The accident happened irrespective of any participation by the Plaintiff. (Virginia S. v. Salt Lake Care Center, 741 P.2d 969 (Utah 1987))

Once this foundation is established, a rebuttable inference of negligence arises from the very fact that the adverse event occurred during the Defendants care and treatment.

As to the first requirement, that the injury was of a kind which in the ordinary course of events would not have happened had defendants used due care, Plaintiff presented uncontroverted evidence that all of her teeth were in place when she entered Defendant's care for a knee operation (Trial Transcript, P. 86, 87, 166, 167, 168, 173, 174, 235), and that several were found to be broken out when she regained consciousness in the recovery room. (Trial Transcript, P. 95, 276) As to the requirement that the injury happened irrespective of Plaintiff's participation, she presented uncontroverted evidence that from the time she entered surgery until

the time the injury was discovered in the recovery room, Plaintiff was under general anesthesia and not in a position to negligently or intentionally knock her own teeth out. (Trial Transcript, PP 94, 95, 275, 276, 277) Plaintiff met the third and final requirement by presenting uncontroverted evidence that the defendants were in complete control of the environment and procedures of the operation and recovery and were therefore responsible for all reasonably probable causes to which the injury could be attributed. (Trial Transcript, PP. 60, 65, 69, 270, 318, 319, 505, 506, 528) Having established this foundation, a presumption that defendant's were negligent was established as a matter of law. This presumption is established primarily upon the fact that Plaintiff's injury happened while she was in the control and care of Defendants.

Yet Instruction No. 16 advises the jury that "no presumption of negligence arises from the fact of an adverse event occurring during a Defendant's treatment." Clearly this instruction is contrary to the law as set forth in Nixdrof, supra, in a res ipsa loquitur case such as the instant case. And when given in addition to the res ipsa loquitur instruction which advises the jury that exactly the opposite is true (Attached as Exhibit I) it would certainly tend to mislead the jury and confuse them to Plaintiff's prejudice.

Instruction 19 serves to further compound the jury's confusion. As this Court indicated in its order reversing the trial court's summary judgment: "expert evidence is not necessary to establish the applicable standard of care in this case, as it appears no medical technicalities are involved." (Exhibit E). In making this ruling



the Supreme Court referred to Nixdrof, supra, which sets out the common knowledge exception to the general rule that expert testimony is required. The Nixdrof Court stated

...however, in certain situations, the medical procedure is so common or the outcome so affronts our notions of medical propriety that expert testimony is not required to establish what would occur in the ordinary course of events. In this type of situation the Plaintiff can rely on the common knowledge and understanding of laymen to establish this element (Nixdrof v. Hicken, supra at page 353 [emphasis added]) (Also see Dalley v. Utah Valley Regional Medical Center, supra)

However, the trial court's jury Instruction No. 19 instructs the jury exactly the opposite. It states: "you are not permitted to use a standard derived from your own experience with physicians, nor any other standard of your own". It further goes on to state: "the only way you may properly learn such standard and thus determine whether or not the physician in this case conformed to it, is through evidence presented during this trial by physicians in the same field of practice testifying as expert witnesses who knew of that standard as it existed at that time." This instruction is clearly contrary to the law as set forth in Nixdrof and as applied to this case by the Utah Supreme Court in its order reversing the trial court's summary judgment. Thus, the trial court has erroneously advised the jury as to the law which applies to this case, and defendants have accomplished by jury instructions what they attempted to do by way of summary judgment. That is to deny Plaintiff a full and fair hearing of her claim.

In the case of Knapstad v. Smith Management Corporation, 774 P. 2d, 1 [Utah 1989]) the Utah Court of Appeals noted as follows:

An instruction is improper and results in reversible error if "it tends to mislead the jury to the prejudice of the complaining party or insufficiently or erroneously advises the jury on the law" (citing Steele v. Brienholt, 747 P.2d 433-435)

The Knapstad case applies directly to the instance case. For the fact that the instructions complained of tend to mislead and confuse the jury to the prejudice of Plaintiff is obvious. Plaintiff outlined her theory of res ipsa loquitur and the "Common knowledge" exception to the rule requiring expert testimony in her opening statement. She thereafter proceeded to present evidence in support of this theory and did not present expert evidence to support a theory of ordinary negligence. Under these circumstances, instructions 16 and 19 resulted in reversible error consistent with the guidelines set out in the Knapstad case.