1989

# Lynn Nielsen v. Pioneer Valley Hospital, D.M. Dickson, George D. Vasey : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Lynn Nielsen's appeal is based on the assertion that the trial court erred when it read to the jury Instruction No. 16 pertaining to impermissible presumptions in a medical malpractice case and Instruction No. 19 pertaining to the determination of the relevant standard of care in simple negligence cases. Appellant's assignment of error fails to provide a basis for a successful appeal for three reasons.

Jury Instruction No. 16 was perfectly consistent with both the res ipsa loquitur and the simple negligence theories advanced by the plaintiff at trial. Instruction No. 16 is no more than a standard cautionary instruction given in all medical malpractice cases regardless of whether the plaintiff proceeds against a defendant physician on a theory of res ipsa loquitur or on a theory of simple negligence. The cautionary instruction merely informs the jury that a physician can never be deemed to be a guarantor of successful results, and that when adverse results from a physician's course of treatment do arise, those results in and of themselves do not allow the jury to presume that the defendant physician was negligent. The case law pertaining to Jury Instruction No. 16 makes it quite clear that the instruction can and should be given in both simple negligence and res ipsa loquitur medical malpractice actions. The cautionary instruction, designed to

bring home to jurors that physicians are no more than human practitioners of the medical art, is perfectly consistent with the standard *res ipsa loquitur* instruction (which was given in the present case). Together, Instruction No. 16 and the standard *res ipsa loquitur* instruction informed the jury that a three-part test must be met before an inference of negligence arises. The caution contained in Instruction No. 16, which mandates that no inference of negligence may arise from the occurrence of a bad result alone, is perfectly consistent with the requirement that the jury find (1) the bad result was of a kind which in the ordinary course of events would not have happened had the defendant physician used due care, (2) the instrumentality or thing causing the injury was at the time of the accident under the management and control of the defendant physician, and (3) the accident happened irrespective of any participation at the time by the plaintiff. Clearly, Jury Instruction No. 16 given in the present case is fully compatible with, and in fact reinforces, the standard *res ipsa loquitur* instruction that sets forth the three-part finding which is a threshold to the inference of negligence.

Similarly, Jury Instruction No. 19 was perfectly consistent with, and was necessitated by, appellant's simple negligence theory of recovery presented at trial. In plaintiff's counsel's presentation of evidence at trial and closing statements to the jury, counsel indicated that the

plaintiff should recover money damages based upon either a simple negligence theory or upon a res ipsa loquitur theory. Once the plaintiff's counsel advanced a simple negligence theory at trial, the defendants had no choice but to request that the trial court give the jury Instruction No. 19 so that the jury would fully understand the plaintiff's burden of proof on that theory.

Even if the trial court did error in reading the jury Instructions No. 16 and/or No. 19, the appellant's requested relief must be denied because appellant's counsel failed to bring to the trial court's attention any objection he had to those instructions as is required by Rule 51 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Plaintiff's counsel gave the Court no opportunity to assess any possibility of error and take proper corrective measures while the jury was still seated. By failing to raise an adequate objection to the instructions, plaintiff's counsel failed to preserve any assignment of error pertaining to those instructions.

## A R G U M E N T

### THREE PRELIMINARY OBSERVATIONS

Before reviewing the case law pertinent to the propriety of Jury Instructions No. 16 and No. 19, it is important to bear in mind three preliminary observations.

1.

First, there is absolutely no dispute in the record on appeal that the plaintiff proceeded at trial with the presentation of evidence and with argumentation that advanced both a simple negligence and a res ipsa loquitur theory of recovery. Appellant's counsel did an admirable job at trial in walking the fine line of presenting just enough negligence evidence so as not to ruin his client's res ipsa loquitur case. See Roylance v. Rowe, 737 P.2d 232 (Utah App. 1987); Kusy v. K-Mart Apparel Fashion Corp., 681 P.2d 1232 (Utah 1984) (a plaintiff may proceed on both res ipsa loquitur and ordinary negligence theories, and have the jury instructed on each theory, so long as the plaintiff's evidence of negligence doesn't "fully explain the cause of the injury by positive evidence revealing all of the facts and circumstances"). As the Statement of Facts outlined above indicates, Lynn Nielsen's counsel attempted to prove his client's simple negligence theory of recovery when he presented evidence through his client (R. 465 at pp. 98-99, 126, 130-143) and through Mr. Elwood Nelson (R. 465 at pp. 152-53), indicating that Dr. Dickson had negligently caused the appellant's bridgework damage with a metal spatula. Appellant's counsel attempted to further this "metal spatula" simple negligence theory of recovery by presenting the testimony of dentist Reed Jorgensen, who stated that the damage to the appellant's bridgework was

caused by an instrumentality other than the airway inserted in the appellant's mouth by Dr. Dickson. (R. 465-66 at pp. 180, 208-211, 222.) Finally, appellant's counsel unequivocally admitted that he was advancing both a res ipsa loquitur and simple negligence theory of recovery at trial when, in closing argument, he stated to the jury:

. . . I'd like to set forth once again the theories of law that my client is going under against these defendants. It's important because they are a little bit separate. And if you agree with one theory, then some of the judge's instructions may not apply to the other theory.

The first theory is the ordinary negligence theory against Dr. Dickson.

. . .

Now, our other theory is the theory that the judge referred to as the res ipsa loquitur theory. This is against Pioneer Valley Hospital and Dr. Dickson.

(R. 467 at pp. 477-78.) There can be no question that the appellant proceeded with her case below based upon the two theories of recovery referred to in her counsel's closing remarks. The Court's Jury Instructions No. 16 and No. 19 were entirely appropriate and consistent with these two theories of recovery.

2.

Second, the question is raised on page 11 of the Appellant's Brief as to precisely what it was the Utah Supreme Court remanded to the trial court by virtue of the Supreme Court's September 16, 1988 reversal of Judge Wilkinson's summary judgment ruling. (See the Utah Supreme Court reversal Order attached as Addendum "A".) The appellant maintains that this Court's Order and remand applied only to her *res ipsa loquitur* theory of recovery. On its face, however, the Supreme Court's Order of reversal states that "The trial court was manifestly in error in granting summary judgment since material facts are in dispute." In referring to the trial court's summary judgment order, the Utah Supreme Court presumably referred to the entire summary judgment order. Indeed, the Supreme Court's reversal and remand appears to have been based on two independent findings: first, that the trial court's ruling was made in the presence of disputed issues of fact, and second, that the ruling as it pertained to *res ipsa loquitur* was incorrect because the Supreme Court's review of the case revealed no need for expert testimony relative to that theory. Accordingly, the Supreme Court's reversal of Judge Wilkinson's summary judgment ruling can clearly be construed as a reversal of the entire summary judgment order and remand of all of the plaintiff's original

causes of action "for further proceedings." Whether all of the appellant's original causes of action contained in her initial Complaint were remanded for trial or not, however, this Court must not lose sight of the fact that appellant's counsel expressly chose to advance both a theory of simple negligence recovery and a theory of res ipsa loquitur recovery while presenting evidence and making closing remarks at the trial below. Appellant has had her day in court with an opportunity to recover on two different theories. A jury has spoken and the verdict should be upheld. Two bites at the apple is enough.

3.

Finally, in reviewing the propriety of Instructions No. 16 and No. 19, this Court should be cognizant of the well-established principle that jury instructions given at trial must be read as a whole when any particular instruction, or any part of a particular instruction, is being reviewed for error. Goode v. Dayton Disposal, Inc., 738 P.2d 638 (Utah 1987); Bigler v. Mapleton Irr. Canal Co., 669 P.2d 434 (Utah 1983); Ewel & Son, Inc. v. Salt Lake City Corp., 493 P.2d 1238 (Utah 1972) (the fact that a plausible argument as to error could be made by singling out certain portions of instructions did not justify upsetting a verdict and judgment where the instructions considered together gave the jury a fair understanding of the issues of fact to be determined and the

law applicable thereto); Taylor v. Johnson, 414 P.2d 575 (Utah 1966). In her brief, appellant is particularly fond of picking out the first sentence from the trial court's Jury Instruction No. 16, and parading that sentence as evidence of error, without fairly reading the first sentence of the instruction within the context of the rest of the language contained in the instruction and within the context of the trial court's jury instructions as a whole. When this Court reads Instructions No. 16 and No. 19 within the context of the entire set of trial instructions, and particularly within the context of the plaintiff's evidence and argument at trial, the Court will have no difficulty upholding the propriety of the instructions.

The jury instructions of particular importance in this appeal read as follows:

**INSTRUCTION NO. 16**

A physician is not a guarantor of successful results, and therefore, no presumption of negligence arises from the fact of an adverse event occurring during a defendant's treatment. The measure of duty owed by the defendant physician to the patient is that degree of care, skill and diligence ordinarily possessed and exercised, under similar circumstances, by other physicians in the same practice and profession. The physician must use ordinary and reasonable care and diligence in providing medical care to the patient. If you find from the evidence in this case that the doctor provided care in compliance with the standard as defined in these

instructions then you must find for the defendant physician.

If complications or adverse results occur in connection with a doctor's treatment of a patient, such facts, in and of themselves, do not prove that the doctor was negligent. [Emphasis added.]

#### INSTRUCTION NO. 19

In determining whether the physician properly fulfilled his duty imposed upon him as a physician, in his treatment and care of plaintiff, you are not permitted to use a standard derived from your own experience with physicians, nor any other standard of your own.

The standard of professional care by which the physician is to be judged by you is that degree of learning, care and skill ordinarily possessed and used by other physicians undertaking the care of a patient under similar circumstances in the same field of practice at the time such treatment and care was rendered.

The only way you may properly learn such standard and thus determine whether or not the physician in this case conformed to it, is through evidence presented during this trial by physicians in the same field of practice testifying as expert witnesses who knew of that standard as it existed at that time. [Emphasis added.]

#### INSTRUCTION NO. 22

The Court instructs you that in certain situations it is not necessary for the plaintiff in a medical malpractice action to present evidence of the defendants' negligence by expert testimony. Specifically, where the propriety of the treatment received is within the common knowledge and experience of the layman,

expert testimony is unnecessary to establish the standard of care owed to the plaintiff. The plaintiff must, however, establish by the evidence that:

1. The accident was of a kind which, in the ordinary course of events, would not have happened had the defendant(s) used due care;
2. The instrument or thing causing the injury was at the time of the accident under the management and control of the defendant(s); and
3. The accident happened irrespective of any participation at the time by the plaintiff.

If you find from a preponderance of the evidence that all three of the above criteria have been met, then you may find an inference of negligence from those circumstances. This does not mean that negligence is necessarily established, it merely creates an inference which may be rebutted by the defendant or defendants.

#### INSTRUCTION NO. 27

If in these instructions any rule, direction or idea has been stated in varying ways, no emphasis thereon is intended, and none must be inferred by you. For that reason, you are not to single out any certain sentence, or any individual point or instruction, and ignore the others, but you are to consider all the instructions as a whole, and to regard each in the light of all the others.

The order in which the instructions are given has no significance as to their relative importance. [Emphasis added.]

## POINT I

### THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY REGARDING THE LEGAL STANDARDS AND BURDEN OF PROOF APPLICABLE TO THE PLAINTIFF'S RES IPSA LOQUITUR AND NEGLIGENCE CAUSES OF ACTION

A. Jury Instruction No. 16 was Perfectly Consistent with Both the Res Ipsa Loquitur and Simple Negligence Theories of Recovery Advanced by the Plaintiff at Trial.

The appellant's contention in her brief with regard to Jury Instruction No. 16 is that the cautionary instruction is somehow inconsistent with the evidence presented and argument made by appellant's counsel during trial. It is too well-settled, however, to be disputed that a cautionary instruction like Jury Instruction No. 16 can and should be given in all medical malpractice cases regardless of whether the theory advanced by the plaintiff is res ipsa loquitur or simple negligence or both.

In Miller v. Kennedy, 588 P.2d 734 (Wash. 1978), the Washington Supreme Court dealt with the precise issue at hand and concluded that in the context of a res ipsa loquitur case, a cautionary instruction like Jury Instruction No. 16 can and should be given when requested by defense counsel. In so holding, the court reasoned that:

The [cautionary instruction] states that a bad result of treatment in itself is not evidence of negligence. Appellant contends this is erroneous and conflicts with the

doctrine of res ipsa loquitur, as accurately set forth in another instruction. Res ipsa loquitur is a doctrine allowing a trier of fact to draw an inference the defendant was negligent when certain circumstances are present. Where the agency or instrumentality causing the injury was in control of the defendant, and the injury is of a type which would not ordinarily result if the defendant were not negligent, a jury may infer from the fact of the injury that the defendant was negligent. This relieves the plaintiff of the necessity of proving the defendant's actual negligent act. The doctrine does not allow the jury to infer a defendant was negligent from the facts of the injury alone, however. The plaintiff must show the other elements were present -- that is, the control by the defendant over the instrumentality, and the nature of the injury as ordinarily resulting only from negligence. The instruction challenged here accurately states that a bad result or injury in itself is not evidence of negligence. . . . Instruction No. 5 [the cautionary instruction] is neither erroneous nor misleading, and the court did not err in giving the instruction to the jury. [Emphasis added.]

588 P.2d at 737.

Similarly, in Voss v. Bridwell, 364 P.2d 955 (Kan. 1961), the Kansas Supreme Court endorsed the giving of a cautionary instruction, like Instruction No. 16 in the present case, where a plaintiff advances both res ipsa loquitur and simple negligence theories in a medical malpractice action against a physician. In such a case, the Court ruled, it is a "basic principle" that " a physician is not a guarantor of good

results, and civil liability does not arise merely from bad results." Id. at 963, 970.

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